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PART ONE:  THE STORY OF BELLINGHAM  

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 Project Background  

Towns and villages have been the focus of settlement in this country for many hundreds of 

years.  Beneath our workplaces, beneath our houses and gardens, streets and shops ï 

beneath our feet ï there lies archaeological remains which can tell us how these settlements 

were once organised and how people went about their lives.  Awareness and appreciation of 

this resource can enhance our sense of place and identity and help us understand how the 

past has directly shaped our present and how we can benefit from it in the shaping of our 

future.  To ensure that evidence for our urban past is not needlessly lost during development 

local and national government have put in place a range of statutory designations and policies 

to make sure that valuable remains are protected, preserved and understood. 

 

In 1992, English Heritage published a national policy to help planners and developers deal 

with urban archaeology and any issues that might arise during the planning process 

(Managing the Urban Archaeological Resource).  This led to the Extensive Urban Survey 

programme, where funds were made available to individual planning authorities to prepare 

material to explain how archaeology fits into the planning process and how issues raised can 

be best resolved.  Bellingham is one of 20 towns in Northumberland to have been reviewed, 

the results appearing in the following report which is divided into three main parts: 

 

Part 1  summarises the development of Bellingham using documentary, cartographic 

and archaeological sources, and examines the evidence for the survival of 

archaeological remains in the town. 

Part 2 assesses the detailed archaeological potential of the town of Bellingham and 

how development could, potentially, impact on significant archaeological resources 

which are of both national and local significance. 

Part 3 looks at the national and local planning process with regard to archaeology 

and is designed to give the developer, planner, and general public, the framework 

within which development in an historic town will normally proceed. 

 

The present survey (fig 2) encompasses the full extent of the town of Bellingham. 

Material within this report includes information available on the Northumberland Historic 

Environment Record (HER) at the time this report was updated.  Information on the HER is 

constantly being updated and should be used as the primary source for historical and 

archaeological information. 
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1.2 Location,  Topography  and Geology  

The small market town of Bellingham (population 845 in 2001), lies on a terrace on the north 

bank of the River North Tyne, astride the Hareshaw Burn and in rolling countryside 16 miles 

north-west of Hexham. The geology around the town is a superficial glacial drift above 

Carboniferous Limestone, this latter outcropping on slopes above the town.  The presence of 

bands of coal and iron ore within the limestone sequence has influenced the growth of 

Bellingham, most notably with the brief but meteoric development of Hareshaw Ironworks 

over the 1830s and 40s. 

 

 

Figure 2: Study Area (purple), scheduled monument (red), listed buildings (pink) 

 

 

1.3 Brief History  

Within two or three miles of Bellingham are several settlements dating to the Roman period, 

but the town itself appears to be no earlier than the 12
th
 century ï although the ending óhamô 

could indicate an early medieval origin (Mawer 1920).  The early settlement seems to have 

been divided by the Hareshaw Burn: on the west was the Church of St Cuthbert, and on the 

east settlement focused around the probable manorial seat, possibly a castle with a demesne 

farm (HER 8048). 
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The North Tyne was fordable near the town and during the medieval period there also 

appears to have been a bridge (HER8024). The present bridge was only built in 1834, 

reflecting the relative unimportance of the crossing of the North Tyne at this point, with the 

main north-south route from Edinburgh to Newcastle, via Jedburgh, running through 

neighbouring Redesdale. During much of the medieval period, an extensive tract of Tynedale, 

including Bellingham, was administered as an independent liberty owned by the Kings of 

Scotland and known as the Lordship of Tynedale. It was not fully integrated into the rest of 

Northumberland until the very end of the 15
th
 century. 

 

A manorial seat over the medieval and post medieval periods, Bellingham also functioned as 

a service and market centre for the surrounding rural economy. However, over a ten year 

period between 1838 and 1848, the town also became an industrial centre based around the 

Hareshaw Ironworks.  Major iron working was a short-lived expansion in the area, and its 

contraction even speedier.  The town survived the closure of the Hareshaw works, though, 

and to this day remains a service centre for its rural hinterland, its economy supported by 

forestry, echoing medieval times when the Bellingham family held the manor by virtue of their 

service as foresters to the king of Scotland. 

 

1.4   Documentary and Secondary Sources  

Research on the town in this survey began with a review of information held in the countyôs 

Historic Environment Record (HER). For Bellingham, this was restricted largely to antiquarian 

discoveries and standing building descriptions. As additional sources were examined during 

this survey new entries were added to the HER and are noted throughout the report. The 

published information on the development of Bellingham is also limited: one of the effects of 

Bellinghamôs inclusion in the Liberty of Tynedale is that it was excluded from the Lay Subsidy 

Roll of 1296, one of the most valuable sources of information about the character of 

settlement in medieval Northumberland (Haigh and Savage 1984, 52). However, the Iter of 

Wark, dated to 1279, mentions Bellingham. The development of the town is described in 

volume 15 of A History of Northumberland (Dodds 1940) and is mentioned in Tomlinson's 

Comprehensive Guide to Northumberland (1888), and in other 19th century Directories. Its 

industrial history has been described by Stafford Linsley of the former Centre for Lifelong 

Learning at Newcastle University. 

  

1.5   Cartographic Sources  

Cartographic sources for the town are also limited and whilst Speed identifies the town on his 

1610 County of Northumberland map and Armstrongôs county map of 1769 shows the form of 

the town at that date, there is no detailed survey until the 19
th
 century.  
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1.6   Archaeological Evidence  

There have been no archaeological interventions within the study area to provide any useful 

indication of the presence, character or degree of preservation of archaeological deposits 

within the town. The only excavations in the vicinity were carried out by George Jobey in 1958 

at the adjacent Romano-British settlement at Riding Wood (HER 7972).   

 

1.7   Protected Sites  

There is one Scheduled Ancient Monument in Bellingham - the site of the 19
th
 century 

Hareshaw Ironworks (SAM ND594; HER 7993) immediately to the north of the town as shown 

on figure 2. There are also 21 listed buildings in the town. The Church of St Cuthbert is listed 

Grade I; the remainder are listed Grade II and therefore protected by the local authority.  

Bellingham has no designated conservation area. 

 

 

2   PREHISTORIC AND ROMAN  
 

There is no evidence for early prehistoric activity from within the town of Bellingham.  

Evidence from the vicinity includes a Bronze-Age axe (HER 7975), found in 1852 at 

Hesleyside and prehistoric carvings (HER 7985 and 7991) cut into exposed bedrock about 

one mile to the north-west of the town. 

 

Apart from a single Roman coin found in 1975 in the garden of Treeton House, Reedsmouth 

Road (HER7990), no evidence for the late Iron Age and Romano-British occupants of the 

area has been found within Bellingham. However, excavation and field investigation has 

shown that a farmed landscape dotted with enclosed settlements lay across the area. A sub-

rectangular, double-banked enclosure (HER7972) at Riding Wood (about one and a half miles 

north west of the town) contained at least four round houses; a Romano-British enclosure at 

West Charlton is recorded by Dodds (1940, 57), and at Stirks Cleugh, to the south of 

Bellingham, another sub-rectangular enclosure of Romano-British date has been recorded 

(HER7980). 

 

There is no suggestion from any of the historical commentators of the town that Castle 

Mound, to the east of the Hareshaw Burn, was of early strategic significance; the site lacks 

height above the river and is overlooked immediately to the north-east.  
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3   MEDIEVAL (figure 3) 

 

3.1   Foundation of the Medieval Town  

There is no evidence for early-medieval activity in the town or the surrounding area. From 

1158, the Liberty of Tynedale was held by the Scottish Crown, who administered it through its 

principal manor of Wark. The manor of Bellingham lay within this lordship. In 1279 two-thirds 

of the manor, including the town, was held by the Bellingham family and one third by the King 

of Scotland. 

 

The Liberty of Tynedale was the subject of Anglo/Scottish dispute over the medieval period; it 

was only in the 14th century that even the position of the border between the two countries 

was stabilised, from which time major military campaigns were largely superseded by bloody 

skirmishes and border raids that continued at least into the 16th century (Haigh and Savage 

1984, 51).  Settlement at Bellingham will have focused on the seat of the lord of the manor, 

some form of defensible residence, probably located on the mound on the east bank of the 

Hareshaw Burn, and also around the church to the west of the burn, the only ecclesiastical 

building in the upper part of Tynedale (Harbottle and Newman 1973, 139). 

 

 

Figure 3:  The medieval town (blue hatch) 

 


